The Future of Virtual Care

Exploring The Value Of Virtual Care Through Phenomenological Research And Design Methodologies







Melissa Frew Faculty of Design, Masters of Design for Health April, 2021

To contact the author please email: <u>frewxdesign@gmail.com</u>

Keywords: design for health, virtual care, digital health, primary care, strategic foresight, participatory design, digital support, phenomenology

I would like to thank and acknowledge all of the participants in this research study. Thank you for sharing your virtual care stories and experiences, the insights gained were invaluable. This work would not be possible without your generosity.

Dr. Kate Sellen and Maya Desai, thank you for your ongoing questioning and advising throughout the process.

I would also like to thank all of the many contributors to this project who offered guidance, time, and ongoing support. Thank you for your patience and for challenging me to push this research forward. Dr. Leslie Beyers and Dr. Howard Abrams, thank you for your expert input and constant support.

Thank you to my fellow students, Amanda, Susan and Christina, I have learned more from the three of you than I can possibly articulate. You have all challenged and pushed me to explore beyond my boundaries.



Abstract

The COVID 19 pandemic necessitated a rapid implementation of virtual care within our healthcare system, generating previously unimagined levels of virtual care uptake and accessibility. The transition to virtual care revealed many benefits and rewards for both patients and providers including a reduction in cost, time saved, and greater protection from infection. However, to date, the system has focused on an urge to simply 'replace' discrete in-person 'moments' of care with digital interactions such as phone and video visits. If our healthcare system is to capitalize on the affordances of digital health and technology solutions, we must continue to change and adapt how we consider the role of virtual care and technology across the care experience.

This phenomenological research study sought to explore the experience of virtual care for both patients and primary care providers in an attempt to understand both the value and the gaps in the virtual care experience. Findings revealed an ongoing mismatch between patient needs and provider constraints. Using design research and strategic foresight methodologies, resulting design criteria pointed to the potential in extending digital health interactions across a broader spectrum of time and care modalities. Developing a more integrated care model may have the potential to ameliorate and resolve patient-provider mismatches through ongoing asynchronous connection and communication.



Table of Contents

The Digital Health Landscape	7
Virtual Care Adoption	9
Primary Care	10
Process	11
Methods	12
Design Principles	12
The Ongoing Mismatch	13
Making a Case for Virtual Care	
Towards a Digitally Supported Model of Care	15
Synchronous Care	16
Accessibility and Equity	18
The Affordances of Technology	20
The Path Forward	23
Evidence and Support	24
Education and Promotion	25
Tools and Materials	26
Summary	27
References	29





Virtual care defined . . .

"any interaction between patients and/or members of their circle of care, **occurring remotely**, using any forms of communication or information technologies with the aim of **facilitating or maximizing the quality and effectiveness** of patient care."

This research sought to explore the experience of virtual care for both patients and primary care providers in an attempt to understand both the value and the gaps in the virtual care experience.

How might we ...

care experience?







The Digital Health Landscape

In the 1970s, Canadian Dr. Maxwell House pioneered the concept of telemedicine and virtual consultations (House and Roberts, 1977). However, despite these initial auspicious beginnings, pre-pandemic Canada lagged far behind the rest of the world reporting a paltry 0.15% of care delivered virtually in 2015-16 (CMA, 2018). Pre-2020 Ontario reported just 0.7% of care being delivered via virtual modalities (Neal, 2020).

The pre-pandemic transition to digital healthcare and adoption of virtual care within the Canadian healthcare system has been fraught with a lack of interoperability, usability, and equitable access. Compounding these barriers is a lack of organizational and government will to work towards and adopt practices necessary for a comprehensive and unified goal of connected care.

In Ontario, the organization-led, regional approach to implementation of health information systems (HIS) has drawn multiple developers and vendors to the marketplace. The perpetuation of proprietary customizations and persistence of disjointed and isolated health data has led to an environment that continues to prohibit broad system-wide interoperability (Moriarty, 2018). In 2018, more than 20 electronic health record (EHR) vendors were active in the Ontario market and with the top two vendor systems, Meditech and Epic, holding 68% of the market share, the remaining 30+% was split amongst an additional 18+ vendors (as reported to the Ontario Hospital Association (OHA survey as of March 2019).



EHR system landscape, 2018

A similar landscape is playing out in Primary Care. Five electronic medical record (EMR) vendors with multiple platform offerings now dominate the marketplace holding 91% of the market share (Paré, et al., 2020). This broad and disparate market of EMR and EHR vendors have created a siloed system of health data. A 2018 physician survey showed that although nearly 80% of family physicians had implemented EMRs, only 16% were able to exchange patient information digitally with health organizations outside of their practice (Canadian Physician Survey Report, 2018).

As the need to make a case for the inclusion of virtual care and by extension digital health technologies within our healthcare system decreases, the digital health landscape will begin to look very different than pre-pandemic times. However, without a shift in approach, the absence of a strong digital foundation will continue to hinder future digital healthcare transformation.

The current policies are not developed for newly envisioned modern systems. Neither patient nor provider are currently happy with the experience.



EMR system landscape, 2020

~ policy expert



Virtual Care Adoption

The rapid implementation of virtual care forced change upon our healthcare system in the form of temporary funding and policy measures, accelerated dissemination of tools and supports, and the rapid launch of technology training and guidance programs. Evidence has emerged identifying previously unimagined levels of uptake and acceptability of virtual care by both providers and patients.

Although the rapid response to the pandemic appeared to prove that the inertia previously experienced by our system could in fact be overcome, the challenges that plagued the implementation of EMRs in the primary care sector have been repeated once again in the rapid rollout of virtual care technologies. A CMAJ report on the implementation of virtual care during the pandemic noted that Ontario once again left the choice of virtual care delivery platforms up to physicians (Glauser, 2020).

pre-2020 0.7% of care delivered virtually



second quarter of 2020 70% of care delivered virtually

Canada's Dr. Maxwell House pioneered telemedicine and the concept of virtual consultations (House and Roberts, 1977)

1970s

Canada Health Infoway tasked with 0.7% of care being 0.15% of care overseeing the implementation of delivered via virtual delivered via virtual an interoperable digital means in 2015-16 modalities (Neal, national health information system (CMA, 2018) 2020) (Government of Canada, 2010) 2015-16 2019 2001

Primary Care

The rapid transition to virtual care has produced a great deal of evidence identifying previously unimagined levels of uptake and acceptability of virtual care by both providers and patients (Shahin, 2021; Stamenova, et al. 2020; Bhatia, et al., 2021). Yet, many questions remain unanswered about how virtual care might best support the patient-provider relationship over the long term. In addition, we must consider the equity of virtual care. As Derek Feeley (2017) makes note, that it is critical to tackle the disparities and inequities that are present within our system to ensure access to care and health for all (Feeley, 2017).

Evidence has shown that, in many cases, long-established primary care patient-provider relationships have eased the transition to virtual care (CMA, et al. 2020). Prior knowledge of patients' histories and stories, habits and environments allowed many primary care providers to successfully transition to virtual care delivery and continue to provide high quality care at a distance (Li, et al. 2020). For those without primary care connections, virtual care has become just one more hurdle to accessing care. Ensuring equitable access to care now also requires equity in digital access.

[Virtual care] is the overnight success story that was 30 years in the making.

Dr. Rasu Shrestha Atrium Health Chief Strategy Officer (Miliard, 2020)







Methods

Using a qualitative vs. quantitative approach, this research focused on an intensive exploration of the experience of virtual care. The research was conducted using a phenomenological approach to explore the lived experiences of patients and primary care providers using virtual care. Phenomenology is the study of social and psychological phenomena from the perspectives of those involved (Welman and Kruger, 1999).

The process of sensemaking included a high-level literature review, and environment and horizon scans followed by a collaborative and participatory engagement phase of research. Participants were engaged through asynchronous surveys, asynchronous workshop-style activities, and brief synchronous phone interviews with primary care providers, patients, and subject matter experts. Shared knowledge was synthesized through thematic analysis (Vaismoradi, 2016). Recurring themes were then explored through additional secondary research and translated into design principles and criteria.

The design criteria and data collected informed the development of a series of plausible and attainable future system goals inspired by strategic foresight design processes (Slaughter, 1997).









give time



time for connection, time for trust, time to listen and be heard

incorporate flexibility



build from an inclusive lens to accommodate individual preferences, needs and capabilities

make the hidden visible



provide transparency in process, status, and results to build trust

accept incremental change



build buy-in through

adaptability and scalability over time

support balance



mitigate the trade-offs between in-person and virtual care

foster the care relationship



support the reciprocal bond of trust, understanding and knowledge sharing





The Ongoing Mismatch

Digital asynchronous surveys completed by both patients and providers revealed a consistent mismatch between the needs of patients and the constraints placed on providers. A sense of feeling heard and included in decision making was identified by patients as being critical to positive care experiences. Technology was identified as both a facilitator and potential barrier to connection. Many patients identified technology as convenient and "a time saver" while also noting challenges with inconsistent digital interfaces and ongoing security concerns.

Provider survey responses were reflected in and elaborated upon during interviews. Providers made note of challenges with the process of connecting including technology failures and dropped or missed connections. In addition, providers identified increased time pressures when engaging in virtual care, noting the awareness of patients waiting in limbo without visibility or oversight as to their status.

Activity submissions revealed that participants value and prefer care delivery from their own, known care provider whether through in-person or virtual care, noting the value of their care provider having awareness of their history and personal story. Activity participants echoed survey findings, noting their desire to be heard and valued as collaborators in their care experience. Lastly, participants identified the value of in-person care while consistently ranking asynchronous email and text communication as preferential.

to read the full research paper click here



"So back in the old days, people could come in, they still get annoyed, but they can clearly see [what is going on and talk to the front desk."

~anonymous provider participant

Making a Case for Virtual Care The Pieces and The Possibilites

How might we utilize technology to re-imagine the care experience and foster a sense of 'time given' to patients while alleviating the burden of time constraints for providers?

Towards a Digitally Supported Model of Care

At the core, virtual care is a human experience, a point of connection between provider and patient. Whether virtual or in person, there is an ongoing mismatch between a patients' desires and the system constraints placed on providers. Primary care has become a game of dominoes, if one appointment goes over time, the back up ripples down the line. For patients, awareness of time constraints weigh on their ability to be honest, open, forthcoming, and fully engaged in the telling of their story. The constraints put on providers impact a patient's ability to feel heard and included in their own health journey as they are rushed through a game of hurry up and wait.

We are at an incredibly opportune moment in history where the transition to virtual care has brought forth many benefits and rewards. Technology has the capacity to afford a sense of 'time given' to patients while alleviating the burden of time constraints for providers. However, our healthcare system must continue to change and adapt to best capitalize on the affordances of digital health and technology solutions. As Shahin (2021) noted in his article "The Great Uncoupling," there are many "ifs", but the potential of this moment is astounding (Shahin, 2021). The system needs to move beyond current linear healthcare models characterized by discrete moments of care and the urge to 'replace' these in-person moments of care with digital interactions.

Guided by the six design principles and inspired by strategic foresight design processes, this research study informed the development of a plausible and attainable digitally supported primary care model. The presentation of this conceptual framework is a nudge that asks primary care to consider what might be possible in the years to come.

Resolving this by playing the usual tug-of-war games between governments and medical associations will miss the opportunity to process the changes we've made and reach with ambition for a transformed health care system that proactively manages 'The Great **Uncoupling' that is happening** before us. ~Shahin, 2021

The Affordances of Technology

The digitally supported model of care illustrates ways in which technology can support interactions across a spectrum of asynchronous and synchronous care delivery while also supporting patient inclusion and self management.

Although video visits may appear to be an optimal virtual care modality, most closely resembling an inperson encounter, the phone has far surpassed video as the preferred delivery mechanism during the pandemic. In addition, 94% of virtual visits have involved some form of secure asynchronous messaging providing patients an opportunity for reflection and response, while also providing a written digital record of the information shared and received (Stamenova et al. 2020).

Technology has the ability to connect patients to care at a distance, elevate patient voices, and support patients in feeling heard, connected, and part of their own experience. Technology also allows access to high-quality primary care across a broader spectrum of time and modalities, reaching wider and more diverse patients.



Synchronous Care

Sight, Sound, Touch; Balancing Trade-Offs

Throughout this study patients repeatedly voiced their desire to feel heard, acknowledged, and included in decision making as well as having a voice in their own care experience. This insight was echoed in a recent study which found that 90% of Canadians indicated their desire for technology that put them in greater control of their own health (Holden, 2021).

...

...

Conversely, the primary care providers engaged for this research noted being constrained within a system of strict billing codes and funding models which result in restricted appointment times, limits on availability, and the need to book patients back to back to manage caseloads and costs.

The care delivered in a synchronous face-to-face in-person encounter is the most intimate care a patient and provider will experience. In-person care is the foundation of relationship-building and provides an opportunity for physical touch and examination, visual assessment, body language, and auditory processing.

Although virtual connections lack some of the intimacy of the in-person visit, the value lies in the reduced burden and cost to patients and added time and capacity for providers. Patients experience reduced travel time, parking and childcare expenses, and reduced time away from work. Virtual visits also afford group or care team calls adding value for referrals and consults and the inclusion of multiple specialists in single appointments alongside patients, caregivers, and primary care providers. Future blended models of care should ensure a balance between the inevitable trade-offs of either in-person or virtual visits and the benefits afforded.



a balanced care model for primary care



documentation The Synchronous Zone ion

The core of primary care is the real-time, face-to-face care experienced in-person between a provider and a patient. The pandemic and the subsequent massive uptake of virtual care has taught us that this face-to-face care can be supported through phone and video visits.

diagnostics & testing



Accessibility and Equity

Tackling the Digital Divide

A digitally supported model of care is founded on a blending of modalities across the care experience, supporting the fluidity of care through varying zones and degrees of interaction. Much of the care that occurs in 'in-between space' is equally valuable as both synchronous and asynchronous interactions and will most often be completed with some mediation through technology. In fact, the decision as to which modality and type of interaction to choose will often be dependent upon equity, access, circumstance, and preference.

For some, digital exclusion continues to exacerbate both the accessibility and the experience of healthcare. Access to technology and a space to receive virtual care are compounded by a lack of digital literacy for many patients and providers. Canada is a large country that is diverse in geography, culture, language, and digital access. Unfortunately, there remains a significant digital divide for people with lower income and education, immigrants, older adults, and those living in rural settings. Poor internet access, a lack of access to digital devices, and low digital literacy amount to digital exclusion (Li, et al. 2020; Stamenova et al. 2020; Vodafone New Zealand Foundation and Elliot, 2018).

During the pandemic, ad hoc education, device and internet lending programs have sprung up overnight in an attempt to alleviate digital illiteracy. However, as small pilots and ad hoc trials, these programs are merely a drop in the bucket of support needs.

As our publicly funded healthcare system moves forward into a post-pandemic world, it is critical that we understand and create an appropriate and equitable balance for virtual and inperson care that both supports the patient-provider relationship and those most in need.

my roadmap to inclusion

my preferred la	anguage	e is			9			
Please circle one response for each question: my comfort level with the internet is:								
expe	rt	advanced	inte	rmediate	begin	ner		
my comfort lev expe	rel with t	echnology is: advanced	inter	rmediate	begin	ner		
cost								
I can pay for a s	smartph	one.		yes	sometimes	no		
I can pay for int	ternet ac	ccess.		yes	sometimes	no		
internet								
I have access to	o interne	et.		yes	sometimes	no		
l have a smartp	hone th	at can connect to	the ii	nternet.	yes	no		
l have a smartp	hone th	at can download	apps	5.	yes	no		
I have access to	o a devic	e; laptop or table	et.	yes	sometimes	no		
I have a safe sp	ace to a	ccess the interne	t.	yes	sometimes	no		
I have a private	space t	o speak freely.		yes	sometimes	no		
accessibility _								
l require acces	sibility a	ccomodations to	acces	ss digita	l care. yes	no		
l am able to ac	cess the	accessibility acco	omod	ations I	require. yes	no		
I know how to f	find acce	essibility accomo	datior	ns. yes	sometimes	no		

*portions of this tool are adapted from The [Seneca Collage] Learning Portal - College Libraries Ontario Digital Assessment Tool









Patient Preferences

Technology has the ability to connect patients to care at a distance, elevate patient voices, and support patients in feeling heard, connected, and part of their own experience.

Over the course of this research, patients overwhelmingly made note of their desire to be heard and acknowledged in their personal needs and knowledge of themselves. Patients also noted a desire to be included in their own care decisions and to have greater oversight in the process and outcomes. Preference tools and care reports provide patients with oversight, ongoing opportunities for input, identifying needs, error corrections, and knowledge building. Providing transparency in processes facilitated by technology ensures patients can remain informed as to the status of referrals and test booking reducing stress, anxiety, and continual outreach for clarity and resolution. The availability of patient friendly diagnostic results with integrated time delay ensures providers can deliver complex explanations and support reflection, review, and comprehension.

Creating an ongoing mechanism for patients to identify needs, preferences, personal stories, and health history might ameliorate feelings of helplessness and frustration. However, this also requires a mechanism to ensure information is provided and accessed at appropriate moments by providers.





Providing trappocessa technol ar e model referrals, test booking, diagnostics and results.

care reports

orts 📊

process transparency



Care reports provide patients with the ongoing opportunity for input, oversight, error corrections, and knowledge building.

preference documentation



and voice Providing the opportunity to manage and make note of preferences, needs, and personal health history supports the feeling of having voice and reduces retelling and repeating.

nduy

Having a point of contact creates a security net and the reassurance provided through asynchronous care reduces the need to visit the ED and book appointments for each and every question and concern.



a balanced care model process transparency



provider patient caregiver



physical exam





Irefill

The Path Forward

How do we get there?

The re-conceptualization of care delivery offered as an outcome of this research illustrates one way in which patients and providers might interact with and experience care through the benefits of a technology enabled and fluid experience.

With minor adaptations, this approach to care delivery might be accommodated within the constraints of our current healthcare system. However, the value of this work lies in offering a path forward.

Evidence, education, and tools must be developed to support broad implementation of a digitally supported care delivery model.



outputs

increased evidence for integration and adoption of technology

more cohesive care experience and equitable access to care

knowledge and awareness of 'how-to' and 'why-to'

increased acceptance and use of digital health technologies

increased patient feelings of 'being heard' and 'included' in their own experience

elevated patient voice and improved care experience

evidence based inclusive and cohesive integrated care model



Evidence and Support

The healthcare system is built on a foundation of research evidence and evaluation. In order to inspire broad uptake and implementation of a digitally supported model of care, evidence and evaluations must be compiled to show value and safety. Three primary research streams are suggested:

- ^{1.} Privacy and security to support integration of PHI and data.
- 2. Usability impacts and guidelines to illustrate the value of improved systems.
- 3. Implementation and accessibility standards to move towards a more equitable system

Accumulated data and evidence must also be translated into usable and accessible tools and frameworks that can then support existing innovations and proposals. For example, new privacy frameworks and models must be developed and implemented which reimagine the concept of informed consent within a virtual environment.

In addition, established norms must be implemented within digital health tools and interfaces, such as modern usability guidelines, consistent interface design criteria and established accessibility standards. Further evidence will illuminate the value of these established frameworks to support future project developments.

systems. re equitable system



Education and Promotion

Education and promotion will ensure that existing and new providers are immersed in new processes and understand the benefit of a blended model of care. Immediately there is a need to develop plain language and engaging promotional materials for patients and providers alike answering questions such as:

- 1. **Privacy** How is my privacy protected? How does it work?
- 2. **Value** What is the value of digital health for me and for my doctor?
- 3. Technology How do I set up a video visit or book a phone visit? How can I share my monitoring information with my doctor? How can I access digital health tools?
- 4. **Support** Where can I go for support? How do I advocate for what I want and need?

Future education will be required to expand knowledge and acceptance of asynchronous models of care delivery. Education materials should be developed with patients and providers and delivered as part of a promotions campaign in the immediate or near future.

Medical education curriculums need to adjust now to address virtual care delivery. Beyond how to use tools and medical interfaces, future care providers must understand the subtleties of how to engage in a virtual space and within an ever-shifting model of care.

Inverses and the second se	



Tools and Materials

Perhaps the most important undertaking to support this reconceptualized model will be ameliorating the impact of digital exclusion. Addressing the ever-widening gap in equitable access to care will become critical as we consider the value of digitally supported care. Digital exclusion will create an insurmountable barrier to those who might benefit most from digitally supported care.

The pandemic has highlighted the need to implment and adopt policies that identify internet access as a human right. In our modern society this includes not only access to wifi or broadband internet but also a device with which to connect.

Until basic internet and connectivity becomes a publicly funded reality, a digital readiness assessment could be a first step. A readiness assessment would identify which supports are most pertinent on an individual basis, such as device and connection support or digital literacy support. However, without appropriate programs of support, the tool will have no utility. Programs such as device and hubspot lending, industry funded partnerships, and digital literacy education will need to be expanded to meet identified needs.

Supporting the assessment of individual needs and providing the needed supports is a necessity to ensure inclusive care in our new digital world.

	digital equ	uity	_	
assessn logged	nent			



Summary

Our healthcare system is not currently capitalizing on the potential that technology affords. The challenges with integration and interoperability must be addressed to support a digitally supported healthcare delivery model. The re-conceptualization of care delivery offered as an outcome of this research illustrates how patients and providers might interact with and experience care through the benefits of a technology enabled and fluid experience.

This research is offered to the healthcare system as one potential path forward to consider, however, there are a number of assumptions that have been made to support this model of care. First, government and policy makers must continue to support virtual care delivery post-pandemic through policy and continued support for digital health innovations. Second, temporary healthcare funding models currently in place, specifically in Ontario and across Canada, must be adapted to support providers in delivering quality care within a more cohesive care model.

The system as a whole must consider a path forward that includes data interoperability and integration. The system is far beyond the point of being able to mandate a single system model, however our system can draw inspiration from across the globe to explore how data might be unlocked and utilized in safe, secure and respectful ways to facilitate improved care.

A digitally supported care model may help to mitigate current mismatches within our healthcare system including inviting patients into their own care experiences as participants and contributors and relieving the burden of our overflowing primary care system. Further to this, a digitally supported model may have the ability to solve the ongoing issue of "primary care deserts" by expanding access to existing primary care providers.

This reconceptualization of digital healthcare is provided as a nudge to the system towards an integrated and cohesive future of healthcare.

the care space model a balanced care mode for primarv ca my story n person







Unless someone like you cares a whole awful lot, nothing is going to get better

66

~The Lorax, Dr. Seuss





Agrawal, R., and Prabakaran, S.. (2020). Big data in digital healthcare: lessons learnt and recommendations for general practice. Heredity. Heredity. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41437-020-0303-2

Anderson, M. (2020, June). Outpatient Care, Primary Care, and Home and Community Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Ontario Health. https:// www.wrh.on.ca/uploads/Coronavirus/Recommendations_Regional_Health_Care_Delivery_COVID19_June_8_2020.pdf

Arnetz, B. B., Goetz, C. M., Arnetz, J. E., Sudan, S., vanSchagen, J., Piersma, K., and Reyelts, F. (2020). Enhancing healthcare efficiency to achieve the Quadruple Aim: an exploratory study. BMC research notes, 13(1), 362. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-020-05199-8

https://

Andrey, S., Masoodi, M.J., Malli, N., and Dorkenoo, S. (2021, January). Mapping Toronto's Digital Divide. Ryerson Leadership Lab and Brookfield Institute for Innovation + Entrepreneurship. Retrieved from: https://www.ryersonleadlab.com/digital-divide

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Implementation Method and Clinical Benefits of Using National Electronic Health Records in Australian Emergency Departments: Literature review and environmental scan for the My Health Record in Emergency Departments project. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2017

Ballantyne A., (2020), How should we think about clinical data ownership? Journal of Medical Ethics. http://doi:10.1136/medethics-2018-105340

Bateson, N. (2021, February 18). What is Submerging? Medium.Com. https://norabateson.medium.com/what-is-submerging-ad12df016cde

repeated

cross-sectional study. CMAJ open, 9(1), E107-E114.

Jones and Bartlett.

CMA. (2018). The Future Of Technology In Health And Health Care: A Primer. https://www.cma.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/health-advocacy/ activity/2018-08-15-future-technology-health-care-e.pdf

CMA, The College of Family Physicians of Canada, and Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2020, February). Virtual Care | Recommendations For Scaling Up Virtual Medical Services. Canadian Medical Association. https://www.cma.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/virtual-care/ ReportoftheVirtualCareTaskForce.pdf

Artem Safarov, N. M. (2019). Digital Health is a Crucial Pillar of the Future of Family Practice in Canada | Canada Health Infoway. Retrieved from

www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/what-wedo/blog/digital-health-records/8030-digital-health-is-a-crucial-pillar-of-the-future-of-family-practicein-canada

Bhatia, R. S., Chu, C., Pang, A., Tadrous, M., Stamenova, V., and Cram, P. (2021). Virtual care use before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a

Boyd, C.O. 2001. Phenomenology the method. In Munhall, P.L. (Ed.), Nursing research: A qualitative perspective (3rd. ed., pp. 93–122). Sudbury, MA:



Canadian Physician Survey Report (2018). Retrieved from https://www.infowayinforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/3643-2018-canadian-physiciansurvey/viewdocument?ltemid=0

Cowan, N., 2010. The Magical Mystery Four. Current Directions in Psychological Science 19, 51–57.. doi:10.1177/0963721409359277

about-technology

Donnelly, C., Ashcroft, R., Bobbette, N., Mills, C., Mofina, A., Tran, T., ... Miller, J.. (2021). Interprofessional primary care during COVID-19: a survey of the provider perspective. BMC Family Practice, 22(1). http://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-020-01366-9

Evans, R. S. (2016). Electronic Health Records: Then, Now, and in the Future. Yearbook of Medical Informatics, 25(S 01), S48–S61. https://doi. org/10.15265/IYS-2016-s006

Feeley, D. (2017). The Triple Aim or the Quadruple Aim? Four Points to Help Set Your Strategy. Institute for Healthcare Improvement. http://www.ihi. org/communities/blogs/the-triple-aim-or-the-quadruple-aim-four-points-to-help-set-your-strategy

org/10.1503/cmaj.1095884

Gorfinkel, I., and Lexchin, J.. (2018). A call to mandate patient access to personal primary care medical records across Canada. Canadian Medical Association Journal. Canadian Medical Association Journal. http://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.180522

Green, M. (2020, May 11). Virtual Care is the Future of Health Care Delivery in Canada. The Hill Times. https://www.hilltimes.com/2020/05/10/paidcontent-virtual-care-is-the-future-of-health-care-delivery-in-canada/247763

Hallway Health Care: A System Under Strain. (2019). Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/public/publications/premiers_council/report.aspx

Holden, J. (2021, March 24). Consulting Canadians About the Future of Health Care. Canada Health Infoway. https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/ what-we-do/blog/innovation/8938-consulting-canadians-about-the-future-of-health-care

House, A. M., and Roberts, J. M. (1977). Telemedicine in Canada. Canadian Medical Association journal, 117(4), 386–388.

Interac Association. (2019, January 29). INTERAC(R) Celebrates 25 Years of Connecting Canadians to their Money. Newswire.Ca. https://www. newswire.ca/news-releases/interacr-celebrates-25-years-of-connecting-canadians-to-their-money-538863991.html

battle-against-covid-19/

Juoperi, S. (2020). The future of learning and organizational development. Howspace. https://www.howspace.com/resources/how-a-pandemic-willrewrite-the-future-of-learning-and-organizational-development

Digital Transformation Is Not About Technology. (2019, October 7). Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2019/03/digital-transformation-is-not-

Glauser, W.. (2020). Virtual care is here to stay, but major challenges remain. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 192(30), E868–E869. http://doi.

Jones, K. (2020, May 1). Deploying virtual care in the battle against COVID-19. Hospital News. https://hospitalnews.com/deploying-virtual-care-in-the-



Kasteren, Y. V., MAEDER, A., Williams, P. A., and Damarell, R. (2017, August). Consumer perspectives on MyHealth Record: A review. In Integrating and Connecting Care: Selected Papers from the 25th Australian National Health Informatics Conference (HIC 2017) (Vol. 239, p. 146). IOS Press.

vol39/iss3/3

Kum, H. C., and Ahalt, S. (2013). Privacy-by-Design: Understanding Data Access Models for Secondary Data. AMIA Joint Summits on Translational Science proceedings. AMIA Joint Summits on Translational Science, 2013, 126–130.

Lamont, J. (2019, December 18). Canada among top five highest costs for 100Mbps internet speed. MobileSyrup. https://mobilesyrup. com/2019/12/18/canada-top-five-highest-costs-100mbps-internet/

Li, J., Roerig, M., Saragosa, M., Carbone, S., Abdelhalim, R., Jamieson, M., Allin, S., and Marchildon, G. (2020). Virtual Primary Care in Northern, Rural and Remote Canada. Toronto: North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Rapid Review (No. 26).

Moriarty, A. (2018). Top Canadian Hospitals and EHR Vendors. Retrieved from https://blog.definitivehc.com/top-canadian-hospitals-ehr-vendors

Morin, A. (2020, November 17). What is Universal Design for Learning (UDL)? Understood. https://www.understood.org/en/learning-thinkingdifferences/treatments-approaches/educational-strategies/universal-design-for-learning-what-it-is-and-how-it-works

Nanouris, E. (2011) The ethical and legal complications surrounding the implementation of a pan-Canadian electronic health record (EHR) system. Library and Archives Canada.

Neal, A. (Host). (2020, November 12). If you've had a medical appointment lately, there's a good chance it wasn't in person. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/ listen/live-radio/1-92-all-in-a-day/clip/15808409-if-medical-appointment-lately-good-chancepersonhttps://

Newman, D. (2019, August 8). Top 5 Digital Transformation Trends In Education For 2020. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/ danielnewman/2019/08/01/top-5-digital-transformation-trends-in-education-for-2020/?shandandsh=3b24753f5739#61;4e7e1f0a5739

Nielsen, J. (2020). 10 Usability Heuristics for User Interface Design. Nielsen Norman Group. https://www.nngroup.com/articles/ten-usability-heuristics/

Nissenbaum, H. (2011). A contextual approach to privacy online. Daedalus, 140(4), 32-48. http://doi.org/10.1162/daed_a_00113

Ng, G. (2011, February 3). Bandwidth Costs: Canada Versus the World. IPhone in Canada Blog. https://www.iphoneincanada.ca/carriers/bandwidthcosts-canada-versus-the-world/

Paré, G., Marsan, J., Jaana, M., Tamim, H., Lukyanenko, R., 2020. IT vendors' legitimation strategies and market share: The case of EMR systems. Information and Management 57, 103291.. doi:10.1016/j.im.2020.103291

Personal Health Information Protection Act, (2004), S.O. 2004, c. 3, Sched. A

Kramer, I.R., (1990) The Birth of Privacy Law: A Century Since Warren and Brandeis, 39 Cath. U. L. Rev. 703 https://scholarship.law.edu/lawreview/



Privis Health care. (2019, March 4). What is the Quadruple Aim and What Role Does it Play in Healthcare? Privis Health. https://www.privishealth.com/ what-is-the-quadruple-aim-and-what-role-does-it-play-in-healthcare/

Posey, A. (2020, November 18). Lesson planning with Universal Design for Learning (UDL). Understood. https://www.understood.org/en/school-learning/for-educators/universal-design-for-learning/lesson-planning-with-universal-design-for-learning-udl

Ratwani, R. M., Reider, J., and Singh, H. (2019). A Decade of Health Information Technology Usability Challenges and the Path Forward. https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.2019.0161

Rozenblum, R., Jang, Y., Zimlichman, E., Salzberg, C., Tamblyn, M., Buckeridge, D., ... Tamblyn, R. (2011). A qualitative study of Canada's experience with the implementation of electronic health information technology. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 183(5), E281–E288. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.100856

Shahin, I. (2021, February 25). Virtual Care and The Great Uncoupling: The change, the debt and the way forward. Medium. https://medium.com/@ilan. shahin/virtual-care-and-the-great-uncoupling-the-change-the-debt-and-the-way-forward-6649d0120a25

Slaughter, R. A. (1997). Developing and applying strategic foresight. ABN Report, 5(10), 13-27.

Solove, D.J. and Schwartz, P.M. (2011) The PII Problem: Privacy and a New Concept of Personally Identifiable Information, 86 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 1814.

Stamenova, V., Agarwal, P., Kelley, L., Fujioka, J., Nguyen, M., Phung, M., ... Bhattacharyya, O.. (2020). Uptake and patient and provider communication modality preferences of virtual visits in primary care: a retrospective cohort study in Canada. BMJ Open, 10(7), e037064. http://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-037064

Stern, A. D., Matthies, H., Hagen, J., Brönneke, J. B., and Debatin, J. F. (2021, January 21). Want to See the Future of Digital Health Tools? Look to Germany. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2020/12/want-to-see-the-future-of-digital-health-tools-look-to-germany

Stewart, B. (2020). How COVID-19 worsens Canada's digital divide. Cbc.Ca. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/covid-19-highlightsurban-rural-digital-divide-1.5734167

Thiel, M. (2021, March 10). Bridging Digital Divide: Rogers expands Connected for Success low-cost and reliable high-speed Internet program to help more Ontarians. About Rogers. https://about.rogers.com/news-ideas/bridging-digital-divide-rogers-expands-connected-for-success-low-cost-and-reliable-high-speed-internet-program-to-help-more-ontarians/

Toronto Public Library. (n.a.). Study Space. https://www.torontopubliclibrary.ca/using-the-library/study-space.jsp

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2020, March 9). HHS Finalizes Historic Rules to Provide Patients More Control of Their Health Data. HHS.Gov. https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/09/hhs-finalizes-historic-rules-to-provide-patients-more-control-of-their-health-data.html

US Regulations Regarding Mandatory Adoption of HL7 FHIR R4 APIs - Released Yesterday! (2020). New Zealand Health HIT. https://www.healthit.org. nz/news/us-regulations-regarding-mandatory-adoption-of-hl7-fhir-r4-apis-released-yesterday

Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., and Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis.



Virtual health care is "not the answer for everything," critics warn. (2020, May 14). Coronavirus. https://www.ctvnews.ca/health/coronavirus/virtualhealth-care-is-not-the-answer-for-everything-critics-warn-1.4939283

Vodafone New Zealand Foundation, and Elliot, M. (2018). Out of the Maze, Building Digitally Inclusive Communities. The Workshop. https://static1. squarespace.com/static/5bd0d99e16b6404fe9018538/t/5bdf7f9b575d1f0d19337766/1541373904877/OutOfTheMaze.pdf

Thompson.

West, J., Davey, G., Anderson, A., Brodie, A., Norris, B. and Myerson, J. 2014. "Designing out Medical Error—An Interdisciplinary Approach to the design of healthcare equipment." The Design Journal 17 (3)

Zahabi, M., Kaber, D. B., and Swangnetr, M. (2015). Usability and Safety in Electronic Medical Records Interface Design: A Review of Recent Literature and Guideline Formulation. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 57(5), 805–834. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018720815576827

Welman, J. C., Kruger, S. J. (1999). Research methodology for the business and administrative sciences. Johannesburg, South Africa: International



